Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-3-2014

Deon v. H&J Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41593

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case involves a claim for total and permanent disability benefits stemming from an industrial accident on October 4, 2008. The accident occurred when Trudy Deon's ("claimant") right hand became encircled and crushed in an electric auger while clearing a clogged drain in the kitchen of the Coeur d'Alene Inn & Conference Center ("employer"). Tr., p. 12. At all relevant times, the employer was insured by Liberty Northwest Insurance Corporation ("surety") for industrial injuries. R. pp. 10-13.

Following a formal hearing on October 16, 2012, the Industrial Commission ("Commission") concluded on May 3, 2013 that the claimant was entitled to total and permanent disability benefits payable by the surety. R. p. 110. Simultaneously, the Commission also issued a notice of reconsideration *sua sponte* on May 3, 2013, raising issue of an the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel on behalf of the employer/surety. R. pp. 112-114.

On November 4, 2013, the Commission entered an order on reconsideration determining that the Claimant was not entitled to total and permanent disability benefits payable by the surety and was instead entitled to an award of \$38,612.64 (i.e. 23.92% PPD minus a \$2,039.40 PPI payment). R. pp. 183-184. The Commission reached this result by relying on a settlement with the Industrial Special Indemnity Fund ("ISIF") during the pendency of this case as a means to utilize the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel against the claimant. *Id*.

B. Course of the Proceedings

On October 4, 2008, the claimant suffered crush type injuries to her right hand in an industrial accident. R. p. 1. On January 18, 2011, the claimant filed a Complaint relating to the October 2008 accident alleging entitlement to additional medical/indemnity benefits. *Id.* On

January 28, 2011, the employer/surety filed an Answer to the October 2008 accident stating that the claimant was not entitled to any additional medical/indemnity benefits. R. pp. 10-11. Shortly thereafter, the employer/surety alleged in discovery responses that claimant's impairment and/or disability could relate to a prior industrial accident on February 9, 2007. R. p. 5.

Claimant then filed a Complaint relating to the February 9, 2007, accident on March 29, 2011. R. p. 5. The employer/surety filed an Answer on April 12, 2011, claiming that the claimant was not entitled to any additional medical/indemnity benefits with respect to the February 9, 2007 accident. R. pp. 12-13.

On June 9, 2011, Claimant then filed a Complaint against the ISIF for total and permanent disability benefits. R. pp.14-16. The ISIF filed an Answer on June 17, 2011, stating that the claimant was not entitled to any additional indemnity benefits from the ISIF as a result of the October 4, 2008 accident. R. pp. 21-23.

On July 1, 2011, the Commission ordered all the matters referenced above consolidated into a single proceeding. R. pp. 24-25. On January 12, 2012, the Commission set the case for hearing on October 16, 2012. R. p. 26. On October 2, 2012, the claimant filed her pre-hearing notice of witnesses, exhibits, and post-hearing depositions. R. pp. 29-31. On October 5, 2012, the employer/surety filed a joint supplemental notice of witnesses, exhibits, and post-hearing depositions. R. pp. 33-35. On October 9, 2012, the ISIF filed an exchange of exhibits and disclosure. R. pp. 36-38.

On October 5, 2012, a joint mediation involving all of the parties was conducted telephonically by Commission mediator Dennis Burks. At the mediation, the ISIF successfully reached a settlement with the claimant but the employer/surety did not. The case then proceeded to hearing against the employer/surety with Commission Referee Alan Taylor on October 16, 2012.

R. p. 50. Post-hearing briefs were filed and the matter was taken under advisement by the Commission on December 24, 2012. R. p. 50.

Referee Taylor determined in a decision dated April 8, 2013, that the claimant's "right upper extremity alone renders her totally and permanently disabled." R. p. 77. The Referee relevantly concluded as a matter of law that the claimant had proven that she was totally and permanently disabled under the *Lethrud* test, that apportionment pursuant to I.C. §72-406 was moot, and apportionment pursuant to *Carey v. Clearwater County Road Department*, 107 Idaho 109, 686 P.2d 54 (1984) was not appropriate. R. pp. 78-79.

On May 3, 2013, the Commission declined to adopt Referee's Taylor recommendations in their entirety "due to the Referee's treatment of the vocational opinions offered by Nancy Collins, Mary Barros-Bailey and Dan Brownell." R. p. 112. However, the Commission agreed with Referee Taylor that the claimant had proven that she was totally and permanently disabled under the *Lethrud* test, apportionment pursuant to I.C. §72-406 was moot, and apportionment pursuant to *Carey v. Clearwater County Road Department*, 107 Idaho 109, 686 P.2d 54 (1984) was not appropriate on May 3, 2013. R. p. 110.

Sua sponte, the Commission issued a notice of reconsideration of the May 3, 2013, conclusions of law, raising the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel on behalf of the employer/surety based on the settlement with the ISIF as formally approved by the Commission on November 8, 2012. R. pp. 112-126. The Commission ordered a revised simultaneous briefing on May 30, 2013, regarding the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel with opening briefs due on June 28, 2013, and reply briefs due on July 19, 2013. On June 27, 2013, the employer/surety filed an opening brief regarding the impact of the ISIF settlement on the May 3, 2013 decision. Ex. Add. Doc. 4. On June 28, 2013, the claimant filed an opening brief. Ex. Add. Doc. 5. On July 18, 2013,

the employer/surety filed a reply brief. Ex. Add. Doc. 6. On July 19, 2013, the claimant filed a reply brief. Ex. Add. Doc. 7.

Before the Commission had ruled on the notice of reconsideration, the Claimant filed a motion for modification of the ISIF settlement agreement on July 26, 2013 to clarify that the settlement agreement was not intended to have any collateral estoppel effect benefiting the employer/surety, together with a supporting affidavit. R. 127-141. The supporting affidavit contained an analysis by economist Dr. Torelli documenting the windfall of hundreds of thousands of dollars that the employer/surety would receive if the ISIF settlement agreement was used to bar payment of the claim for total and permanent disability benefits assessed against the surety. R. 136-141. The employer/surety and ISIF filed responsive briefing opposing any attempt to modify the settlement agreement on August 8, 2013, and August 9, 2013. R. 142-156. The claimant filed a reply brief on August 14, 2013. R. 157-160. On September 27, 2013, the Commission issued an order denying any modification to the ISIF settlement agreement based on its interpretation of I.C. \$72-719(4). R. pp. 161-165.

On November 4, 2013, the Commission entered an order on reconsideration applying the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel to reduce the award to the claimant from one of total and permanent disability payable by the surety to an award of \$38,612.64 (i.e. 23.92% PPD minus a \$2,039.40 PPI payment) payable by the surety. R. pp. 183-184. The Commission's order on reconsideration was based on its interpretation of *Jackman v. State Industrial Special Indemnity Fund*, 129 Idaho 689, 931 P.2d 1207 (1997). R. pp. 175-179.

A notice of appeal was filed on November 14, 2013 and a first amended notice of appeal was filed on November 22, 2013. R. pp. 186-198.

C. Concise Statement of Facts

Trudy Deon was employed as a maintenance worker by the Coeur d'Alene Inn from June 11, 2003, until November 15, 2009. Ex. 28, p. 14. Her duties were summarized in the job site evaluation ("JSE") performed by Beth Griggs of the Industrial Commission Rehabilitation Division ("ICRD") as follows:

Repairs and maintains rooms and facilities at motel and convention center. Uses hand and power tools to change lighting fixtures, unclog and repair plumbing, and repair damages to rooms. Changes HVAC filters and belts. Performs pool and spa maintenance. Performs snow removal and outdoor landscaping. Ex. 1, p. 4; See also Ex. 28, pp. 22-29.

On October 4, 2008, the claimant was in the kitchen of the employer working to unplug a drain that was clogged and flooding the kitchen area. Tr., p. 30, L. 21-23. In the process of cleaning out the drain, the claimant's right hand became entangled in an electric auger that encircled, twisted, and crushed her right hand. A co-worker eventually heard her cries for help and unplugged the device from the wall as a safety switch had been removed from the auger that would have allowed the claimant to shut off the device. Tr., p. 31, L. 1-14. Magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") on November 3, 2008 interpreted the injuries to the right hand as follows:

Impression:

- 1. Disruption of the A2 pulley system of the fourth digit with palmar bowing of the flexor tendon and edema surrounding the flexor tendon in this location compatible with focal tenosynovitis.
- 2. Partial disruption or strain of the A2 pulley system of the fifth digit with palmar bowing of the flexor tendon and mild tenosynovitis.
- 3. Nondisplaced fracture involving the distal aspect of the proximal phalanx of the fifth digit. Ex. 13, p. 148.

The MRI report was amended on November 13, 2008 to read as follows:

Impression:

1. Ligamentous tear and bowing of the flexor tendon in the fourth and fifth digits. This occurs just proximal to the interphalangeal joint. This is in the region of the proximal volar plate/check rain ligament and C2 Pulley. The fifth digit tear is partial. The fourth digit tear

- is partial versus complete, with a partial tear favored as the tendon does not bowstring across the PIP joint.
- 2. Increased signal adjacent to the radial and ulnar collateral ligaments of the fourth and fifth PIP joints. No gross disruption, probable sprain.
- 3. Osseous contusion of the distal aspect of the fifth proximal phalanx. No definitive fracture, although a nondisplaced fracture cannot be excluded. Followup radiography may be helpful.
- 4. Findings discussed with Dr. Mullen. Ex. 13, p. 151.

The claimant consulted with a wide variety of specialists and underwent multiple physical therapy sessions with a wide variety of providers without substantial improvement over the next year before being discharged from physical therapy on October 28, 2009. Ex. 20, p. 260. In the interim, EMG/NCV studies on the right upper extremity were interpreted as abnormal by Dr. Stevens, who concluded on August 19, 2009 that:

Her symptoms and examination do suggest an ulnar sensory nerve injury at the wrist involving both the deep and superficial branches causing hypesthesia within the classic ulnar pattern and also the dorsum of the hand within the dorsal ulnar cutaneous distribution. I strongly suspect that this is a compressive injury and likely a single event injury. It is unclear if there is actually any correctable lesion other than hoping that the sensation will gradually return with time. It would not be unreasonable to do an exploration but my suspicion is that there is no "correctable lesion" of the ulnar nerve. Ex. 14, p. 156.

Dr. Stevens subsequently saw the claimant in the context of a medical examination at the request of the surety and assessed 2% upper extremity impairment. Ex. 14, p. 166. Dr. Stevens stated that while no restrictions were assessed based on objective matter, he would not be addressing the claimant subjective work tolerance and provided a full release on November 18, 2009. Ex. 14, p. 167. The claimant was laid off by her supervisor, Jeff Mills, on behalf of the employer in November 2009. Mr. Mills testified at his deposition as follows:

- A: I believe I laid her off in about the 1st of November 2009.
- O: Okay. And why was that?
- A: She was not capable of performing her duties. Ex. 9, p. 98, L. 21-24.

The claimant searched for work without success for approximately six months but was unsure of what work she would be able to perform as documented in the ICRD file. Ex. 1, pg.

23. On May 13, 2010, the Social Security Administration declared the claimant disabled and administrative judge Gene Duncan commented:

The State agency medical consultants' physical assessments are given little weight because other medical opinions are more consistent with the record as a whole and evidence received at the hearing level shows that the claimant is more limited than determined by the State agency consultants. Greater weight has been given to the credible records of treating sources that have had an on-going relationship with the claimant. The undersigned finds the residual functional capacity (RFC) indicated above is supported by the totality of the objective medical findings and other evidence in the record. Ex. 4, p. 38.

Judge Duncan concluded that:

Even if the claimant had the residual functional capacity for the full range of sedentary work considering the claimant's age, education, and work experience, a finding of "disabled" would be directed by Medical-Vocational Rule 201.14. Ex. 4, p. 39.

The claimant filed a complaint for total and permanent disability benefits against the employer/surety on January 18, 2011 and against the ISIF on June 9, 2011. R. p. 1 and 14. On September 16, 2011, the claimant was seen for a functional capacity evaluation ("FCE") at her own expense because the surety refused to pay for the evaluation despite recommendations from multiple treating physicians within the chain of referral for such a procedure. See Ex. 15, pp. 189-190, Ex. 17, p. 207, R. 109. The FCE report concluded that the claimant would need to secure a job with "primarily left handed work with a weight load on the right of less than 5# lifting, up to 20# with both hands, minimum repletion, and self paced" if she was to return to the labor force. Ex. 12, p. 147. Vocational expert Dan Brownell concluded that with the claimant's learning disability, work history, and hand injury, she had incurred a loss of access to 90% of the labor market and would require a sympathetic employer to access the remaining positions. R. p. 99.

On May 3, 2013, the Commission issued a decision determining that the claimant was an odd lot worker and totally and permanently disabled as a result of the last industrial accident under the *Lethrud* test, rendering apportionment pursuant to *Carey v. Clearwater County Road Department*, 107 Idaho 109, 118, 686 P.2d 54, 63 (1984) inappropriate. R. p. 108. On May 3,

2013, the Commission raised the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel *sua sponte* on behalf of the employer/surety in a notice of reconsideration and subsequently issued an order on November 4, 2013, determining that claimant was not entitled to total and permanent disability benefits. R. 183-184.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Commission err in finding the elements of the collateral estoppel were met?
- 2. Did the Commission err in raising the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel *sua sponte* on behalf of the employer/surety?
- 3. Did the Commission violate the Claimant's right to due process?
- 4. Did the Commission err in refusing to modify the ISIF settlement agreement pursuant to I.C. §72-719(3)?
- 5. Is the ISIF settlement void as a matter of law?
- 6. Should attorney fees be awarded on appeal?

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, --- P.3d ----, 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014), this court reviewed the standard of review for an appeal from the Industrial Commission of the State of Idaho and stated:

When this Court reviews a decision from the Industrial Commission, it exercises free review over questions of law but reviews questions of fact only to determine whether substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's findings. *Ogden v. Thompson*, 128 Idaho 87, 88, 910 P.2d 759, 760 (1996). Substantial and competent evidence is "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Boise Orthopedic Clinic v. Idaho State Ins. Fund*, 128 Idaho 161, 164, 911 P.2d 754, 757 (1996). The Commission's conclusions on the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999).

Whether collateral estoppel bars the relitigation of issues adjudicated in prior litigation is a question of law upon which the court exercises free review. *Rodriguez v. Dep't of Correction*, 136 Idaho 90, 92, 29 P.3d, 401, 403 (2001).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

This appeal asks this court to assess whether the Commission should continue to use the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel to deny compensation to claimants instead of analyzing a claim on the merits. *See Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, --- P.3d ----, 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014). It is noteworthy from the commencement of this action until raised by the Commission, the employer/surety failed to raise the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel. R. pp. 112-115. The employer/surety specifically waived the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel by failing to add it as an issue for hearing on October 16, 2012 as set forth in the hearing transcript below:

REF. TAYLOR: Thank you, and welcome. The defendants, employer and surety,

are represented by attorney Roger Brown. I note for the record that the State of Idaho Industrial Special Indemnity Fund is not represented today. I understand, in communication received late last week, that the ISIF has settled with claimant prior to today,

and I would just like Mr. Nemec to confirm that.

MR. NEMEC: That is correct. I have not received any of those documents, but

we have reached a settlement on the issues. Tr. pp. 6-7.

. . .

REF. TAYLOR: Okay, based on counsels' comments, it appears that we can delete

issues one (b) and six, one (b) pertaining to TTDs and six pertaining to the liability of ISIF pursuant to 72-332. **Any further**

comments or issues, counsel? (emphasis added).

MR. NEMEC: I don't believe so.

MR. BROWN: No, your Honor.

Tr. p. 10, L. 7-14.

Whether the ISIF settlement agreement could have any collateral estoppel effect was ripe for adjudication on October 16, 2012. The employer/surety was aware of the settlement with ISIF prior to the hearing as noted in the hearing transcript above and the employer/surety was also present at the mediation of the matter on October 5, 2012. Perhaps more importantly, the employer/surety had approximately 1.5 months following the formal approval of the settlement to raise or argue this affirmative defense in their post-hearing brief and failed to do so.

To argue that the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel was not ripe for consideration as the Commission suggested in the Notice of Reconsideration is akin to arguing that apportionment defenses under I.C. §72-406 are not appropriate for review until the Commission has first held a primary hearing on the issue of PPI, and then a secondary hearing on apportionment as it relates to PPD. Were that the law, the policy of providing "sure and certain" relief to injured workers would devolve into a Byzantine system of hearings that would further lengthen the time from injury to relief.

While the Notice of Reconsideration states the employer/surety may not have had "independent knowledge of the terms and conditions of Claimant's settlement with the ISIF," that statement should have had no bearing on the Commission's May 3, 2013 decision. *See* R. p. 113. Specifically, the Claimant was under no duty to provide the ISIF settlement agreement to the employer/surety according to the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure or the Judicial Rules of Practice and Procedure. More importantly, the employer/surety was aware of the ISIF settlement and a copy was available from from the Commission, Claimant, or the ISIF had they asked for one.

From a policy perspective, the doctrine of collateral estoppel has no place in the world of worker's compensation law because settlement agreements at the Commission are not examined on the merits, but rather a "best interests" standard. While the court may reverse the Commission's earlier decision determining that the claimant is not entitled to total and permanent disability benefits on a variety of grounds, it should be recognized that *Tagg v. State of Idaho, ISIF*, 123 Idaho 95, 844 P.2d 1345 (1993) (which held that a third party beneficiary not named in a settlement agreement was not entitled to utilize the settlement agreement as *res judicata*) remains good law.

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