UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-31-2014

Deon v. H&J Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 41593

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

ARGUMENT

I. RELEVANT LAW

A. I. C. Section 72-332 ISIF liability

I.C. Section 72-332 states in relevant part:

(1) If an employee who has a permanent physical impairment from any cause or origin, incurs a subsequent disability by an injury or occupational disease arising out of and in the course of his employment, and by reason of the combined effects of both the pre-existing impairment and the subsequent injury or occupational disease or by reason of the aggravation and acceleration of the pre-existing impairment suffers total and permanent disability, the employer and surety shall be liable for compensation benefits only for the disability caused by the injury or occupational disease, including scheduled and unscheduled permanent disabilities, and the injured employee shall be compensated for the

remainder of his income benefits out of the industrial special indemnity account.

I.C. Section 72-332. (Emphasis added).

B. I. C. Section 72-404 Lump sum payments

Idaho Code Section 72-404 states:

72-404. Lump sum payments. Whenever the commission determines that it is for the best interest of all parties, the liability of the employer for compensation may, on application to the commission by any party interested, be discharged in whole or in part by the payment of one or more lump sums to be determined, with the approval of the commission.

I. C. Section 72-404.

C. I. C. Section 72-719 Modification of awards and agreements

Idaho Code Section 72-719 states:

72-719. Modification of awards and agreements—Grounds—Time within which made.

(1) On application made by a party in interest filed with the commission at any time within five (5) years of the date of the accident causing the injury or date of first manifestation of an occupational disease, on the ground of a change in conditions, the commission may, but not oftener than once in six (6) months, review any order, agreement or award upon any of the following grounds:

(a) Change in the nature or extent of the employee's injury or disablement; or

(b) Fraud.

(2) The commission on such review may make an award ending, diminishing or increasing the compensation previously agreed upon or awarded, subject to the maximum and minimum provided in this law, and shall make its findings of fact, rulings of law and order or award, file the same in the office of the commission, and immediately send a copy thereof to the parties.

(3) The commission, on its own motion at any time within five (5) years of the date of the accident causing the injury or date of first manifestation of an occupational disease, may review a case in order to correct a manifest injustice.

(4) <u>This section shall not apply to a commutation of payments</u> <u>under section 72-404.</u>

I. C. Section 72-404. (Emphasis added).

D. An approved LSA is final and is not modifiable absent proof of fraud

The Idaho Supreme Court has recognized that an approved LSA is final and may

not be modified absent proof of fraud:

However, once a lump sum compensation agreement is approved by the commission, that agreement becomes an award and is final and may not be reopened or set aside absent allegations and proof of fraud. I.C. Sec. 72-718; *Fountain v. T.Y. & Jim Hom*, 92 Idaho 928, 453 P.2d 577 (1969); *Vogt v. Western General Dairies*, 110 Idaho 782, 718 P.2d 1220 (1986). Since, in the present case the compensation award was made by means of a lump sum agreement, the commission correctly held that Harmon's allegations of manifest injustice were insufficient, even if proven, to permit the commission to set aside the agreement. Thus, we find claimant's arguments on appeal that the commission erred in so holding to be without merit.

Harmon v. Lute's Const. Co., Inc., 112 Idaho 291, 732 P.2d 260 (1986).

E. Estoppel

1. Collateral estoppel

The doctrine of collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, protects litigants from having to re-litigate an identical issue with the same party or its privy in a subsequent action. *Ticor Title Co., v. Stanion*, 144 Idaho 119, 123, 157 P.3d 613, 617, (2007). Five factors are required for issue preclusion to bar the re-litigation of an issue determined in a prior proceeding: (1) the party against whom the earlier decision was asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue decided in the earlier case; (2) the issue decided in the prior litigation was identical to the issue presented in the present action; (3) the issue sought to be precluded was actually decided in the prior litigation; (4) there was a final judgment on the merits in the prior litigation; and (5) the party against whom the issue is asserted was a party or in privity with a party to the litigation. See *Magic Valley Radiology, PA v. Kolouch*, 123 Idaho 434, 849 P.2d 107 (1993); *Stoddard v.*

Haggadone Corp., 147 Idaho 186, 207 P.3d 162 (2009). Whether collateral estoppel bars the re-litigation of issues adjudicated in prior litigation between the same parties is a matter of law upon which the Court exercises free review.

2. Quasi-estoppel

The doctrine of quasi-estoppel "prevents a party from asserting a right, to the detriment of another party, which is inconsistent with a position previously taken." *Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, --- P.3d --- (2014) 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014) (citing *Atwood v. Smith*, 143 Idaho 110, 114, 138 P.3d 310, 314 (2006)). Quasi-estoppel stands for the proposition that " 'one cannot blow both hot and cold.' " *Id.*, (quoting *KTVB, Inc. v. Boise City*, 94 Idaho 279, 281, 486 P.2d 992, 994 (1971).

This doctrine applies when: (1) the offending party took a different position than his or her original position, and (2) either (a) the offending party gained an advantage or caused a disadvantage to the other party; (b) the other party was induced to change positions; or (c) it would be unconscionable to permit the offending party to maintain an inconsistent position from one he or she has already derived a benefit or acquiesced in. *C & G, Inc.*, 139 Idaho at 145, 75 P.3d at 199. Estoppel theories generally present mixed questions of law and fact. *The Highlands, Inc., v. Hosac,* 130 Idaho 67, 69, 936 P.2d 1309, 1311 (1997). Because mixed questions of law and fact are primarily questions of law, this Court exercises free review. *Id.*

Id., (quoting Allen v. Reynolds, 145 Idaho 807, 812, 186 P.3d 663, 668 (2008)).

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the Supreme Court reviews a decision from the Industrial Commission, it

exercises free review over questions of law but reviews questions of fact only to determine

whether substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's finding. Vawter

v. United Parcel Service, Inc., ---P.3d---, 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014) (citing Ogden v.

Thompson, 128 Idaho 87, 88, 910 P.2d 759, 760 (1996). Substantial and competent

evidence is "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Id.*, (citing *Boise Orthopedic Clinic v. Idaho State Ins. Fund*, 128 Idaho 161, 164, 191 P.2d 754, 757 (1996). The Commission's conclusions on the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. *Id.*, (citing *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999). Estoppel theories generally present mixed questions of law and fact. *The Highlands, Inc. v. Hosac,* 130 Idaho 67, 69, 936 P.2d 1309, 1311 (1977) (citing *Independent Gas & Oil Company v. T.B. Smith Co.*, 51 Idaho 710, 724-25, 10 P.2d 317, 322 (1932). Because mixed questions of law and fact are primarily questions of law, this Court exercises free review. *Id.*, (citing Doolittle v. Meridian Joint Sch. Dist., 128 Idaho 805, 811, 919 P.2d 334, 340 (1996).

III. THE COMMISSION'S NOVEMBER 4, 2013, ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED IN ALL RESPECTS

A. As a party to an approved LSA apportioning some portion of liability for Claimant's total and permanent disability to ISIF, Claimant is estopped from now arguing that Employer/Surety is liable for 100% of her total and permanent disability

Claimant's reliance on this Court's decision in *Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.,* --- P.3d ---- (2014) 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014) to support her contention that the Commission improperly found that the elements of collateral estoppel were met in the case at bar, is misplaced. *Claimant's Opening Brief on Appeal, p. 14. Vawter* held that the Commission's decision to apply collateral estoppel was in error because *Vawter* involved multiple hearings but <u>one cause of action</u>. Collateral estoppel "precludes relitigation of the same issue in a <u>separate cause of action</u>. *Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.,* --- P.3d --- (2014) 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014) (citing Rodriguez v. *Dep't of Correction*, 136 Idaho 90, 92, 29 P.3d 401, 403 (2001) (Emphasis added)). Specifically, *Vawter* involves the same set of operative facts related to the claimant's employment with UPS over a period of more than 25 years, including a 1990 low back injury and a 2009 herniated disk, both of which were industrial injuries incurred while employed by UPS. Indeed, it was the employer, UPS, who filed the complaint against ISIF to establish ISIF's liability for a portion of the claimant's benefits. Therefore, the Court determined that these were not separate factual situations, but that all the hearings and orders addressed only one cause of action.

In the current case, although ISIF would have participated in the hearing had it not reached a settlement with Claimant, her claim against ISIF was the subject of a separate complaint, which was consolidated with Claimant's complaints against Employer/Surety for the purposes of hearing only. The Commission properly found that Claimant was barred from re-litigating the issue of whether ISIF liability had been established by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. First, Claimant had a full and fair opportunity to litigate this issue in her prior case against ISIF. Before ISIF could be found liable in that case, Claimant bore the burden of proving that she was totally and permanently disabled, and that all elements of ISIF liability were met. *Dumaw v. J. L. Norton Logging*, 118 Idaho 150, 795 P.2d 312 (1990) (identifying four requirements a claimant must meet to establish ISIF liability under Idaho Code Section 72-332, including: (1) whether there was indeed a pre-existing impairment; (2) whether that impairment was manifest; (3) whether the impairment was a subjective hindrance to employment; and (4) whether the impairment in any way combined with the subsequent injury to cause total disability). Claimant could not prevail against ISIF unless she met her burden of proof under *Dumaw*.

On the guestion of whether Claimant is barred from re-litigating the issue of whether ISIF liability has been established, all elements required to apply the doctrine of collateral estoppel exist: (1) Claimant's separate complaint against ISIF afforded Claimant a full and fair opportunity to litigate these issues; (2) the issue decided in Claimant's previous case against ISIF is identical to the issue before the Commission in Claimant's claim against Employer/Surety, (i.e., whether Claimant is totally and permanently disabled, and if so, whether apportionment under the Carey formula is appropriate); (3) Carey apportionment and ISIF liability was argued by the parties and addressed by the Commission; (4) a lump sum settlement approved by the Commission under I. C. Section 72-404 constitutes a final decision of the Commission and is therefore a final judgment on the merits, Jackman v. State Industrial Special Indemnity Fund, 129 Idaho 689, 931 P.2d 1207 (1997) (citing Davidson v. H.H. Keim Company, 110 Idaho 758, 718 P.2d 1196 (1986)); and (5) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted, (Claimant), was a party to the previous action in which she alleged ISIF bore *some portion* of the responsibility for her total and permanent disability. Claimant is also a party to the action against Employer/Surety and in that case argues that 100% of the liability for her total and permanent disability should be born by Employer. Based on the foregoing, it is perfectly clear that the Commission properly found that the doctrine of collateral estoppel prevents Claimant from re-litigating the issue of whether ISIF bears responsibility for some portion of her total and permanent disability. Further, the Commission properly determined that: (1) Claimant is estopped

from now asserting that Employer/Surety is entirely responsible for her total and permanent disability; and (2) Claimant is bound by the Commission's order approving the lump sum settlement, which established that <u>some portion</u> of Claimant's total and permanent disability must be borne by ISIF.

B. The Commission did not violate Claimant's due process rights by inviting the parties to submit briefs on the issue of collateral estoppel

Claimant argues that the Commission violated Claimant's due process rights by providing late notice of the issue of collateral estoppel. Claimant contends that Employer/Surety failed to raise the affirmative defense of collateral estoppel, and in fact. specifically waived it by failing to add it as an issue for the October 16, 2012, hearing. Thus, Claimant claims that she was prejudiced by this late notice and was unable to prepare her prosecution of this claim to properly argue that she should not be estopped from asserting a position at hearing that was inconsistent with the position she took in the agreement with ISIF, (i.e., at hearing and in her Opening Brief, Claimant argued she was permanently and totally disabled solely from the October 4, 2008 industrial accident, therefore Carey apportionment (a noticed issue for hearing) was, as stated by Claimant, "not deemed relevant," yet Claimant's agreement with ISIF specifically provides, "... the Fund and the Claimant stipulate and agree that Claimant is totally and permanently disabled upon the combined effects of the Claimant's pre-existing cervical spine injury and left lower extremity injury, combining with the injury to her right hand and wrist.

While the Commission is not bound by the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, it does have its own rules of procedure. Under these rules, the Commission is required to

give parties notice of the issues to be decided but does not need to state each individual issue. *Vawter v. United Parcel Service, Inc.,* --- P.3d --- (2014) 2014 WL 497437, Idaho (2014), (citing *Gomez v. Dura Mark, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 597, 601, 272 P.3d 569, 575 (2012)). The issues of apportionment and Carey apportionment were noticed for hearing. Indeed, Claimant argued both of the issues at hearing and in her subsequent briefing below. Claimant's inconsistent positions are inherent in those arguments and they constitute sufficient notice of the issue of estoppel. Id. Because of her position taken in the ISIF agreement, Claimant has received a \$70,000.00 award. Now Claimant takes the opposite position to again receive an even larger monetary award. If successful, Claimant's current position would give Claimant a windfall at Employer/Surety's expense. Thus, under the doctrine of quasi-estoppel Claimant may not assert that her total and permanent disability stems solely from the October 4, 2008, industrial accident.

C. The Commission properly denied Claimant's motion to modify the LSA

Claimant argues the Commission improperly denied Claimant's motion to modify the LSA in order to correct a manifest injustice under I. C. Section 72-719 (3). *Claimant's Opening Brief, p. 22.* Unfortunately for Claimant, the statute she cites in support of this argument also, by its explicit terms, specifically prohibits its application to a commutation of payments under I.C. 72-404 (authorizing lump sum payments and discharge of liability pursuant thereto). I.C. Section 72-719(4) provides:

(4) <u>This section shall not apply to a commutation of payments under</u> <u>section 72-404.</u>

I. C. Section 72-719(4) (Emphasis added).

D. The LSA satisfies the requirements of this Court's ruling in *Wernecke v. St. Maries Joint School Dist. No. 401*, 147 Idaho 277, 207 P.3d 1008 (2009)

ISIF's liability may only be established when the Industrial Commission finds that the requirements of I.C. § 72-332 have been satisfied. That requires findings by the Commission of four elements: (1) a pre-existing impairment; (2) that the impairment was "manifest"; (3) that the alleged impairment was a "subjective hindrance"; and (4) that the alleged impairment combines in causing total disability. *Wernecke* provides that the requisite findings may be made by the Commission upon a hearing on the merits, or, as in the present case, upon a stipulation of the parties considered and approved by the Commission. See *Wernecke v. St. Maries Joint School Dist. No. 401*, 147 Idaho 277, 207 P.3d 1008 (2009).

The LSA sets forth the following with regard to Claimant's pre-existing impairment:

". . . Claimant suffered from a cervical spine injury and a left lower extremity injury prior to the industrial accident that occurred on October 4, 2008. . . "

and notes a 6% whole person impairment award for the cervical spine injury based upon an independent medical examination, and a 7% whole person impairment award

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